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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF IOWA 

 CEDAR RAPIDS DIVISION 
 

 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 
 
                         Plaintiff, 
 
             vs. 
 
ROBERT M. HERTZ, 
 
                         Defendant. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

 
 
No. 15-CR-00053-LRR 
 

  
 

 

 SENTENCING MEMORANDUM 
 

The United States respectfully submits the following memorandum regarding 

the upcoming sentencing hearing in this matter. 

I. Procedural Summary  
On January 7, 2016, the Court sentenced defendant as an “armed career 

criminal” (ACC) to serve 188 months’ imprisonment, following his plea of guilty to 

being a felon in possession of firearms, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(1).   

On January 25, 2017, the Eighth Circuit Court of Appeals vacated 

defendant’s sentence and remanded for resentencing in light of the Supreme Court’s 

decision in Mathis v. United States, 136 S.Ct. 2243 (2016).  In light of Mathis, the 

Eighth Circuit found defendant’s Washington State burglary conviction (PSR ¶ 26) 

no longer qualified as an ACC predicate because it included alternatives not in the 

generic definition of burglary.  

The matter is now before the Court for resentencing. 
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II. Sentencing Considerations  

Pursuant to the Armed Career Criminal Act (ACCA), at original the 

sentencing hearing, defendant was subject to a mandatory minimum sentence of 

“not less than fifteen years” imprisonment.  18 U.S.C. § 924(e)(1).  Now that 

defendant no longer qualifies for sentencing under the ACCA, the maximum 

sentence is ten years’ imprisonment, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 924(a)(2). 

As outlined in the revised presentence report, the new advisory sentencing 

guidelines range is 78-97 months.  (PSR ¶ 72).   

In response to the original draft presentence report, defendant indicated he 

may seek a “downward variance” based upon the § 3553(a) factors and 

“overrepresentation of criminal history and the totality of the circumstances.”  

(Docket 24).  Although defendant later abandoned that approach, as the 

government noted in its original sentencing memo, if anything, grounds exist to 

support an upward departure or variance.  (Docket 30 at 11).  Given defendant is no 

longer subject to a mandatory minimum fifteen-year term of imprisonment, and his 

sentence will now be capped at ten years, an even stronger reason exists for the 

Court to depart or vary upward from the advisory guidelines range at the time of 

resentencing.   

a. Upward Departure/ Underrepresentation of Criminal History  

A district court may depart upward from the advisory guidelines range if “the 

defendant’s criminal history category substantially under-represents the 

seriousness of the defendant’s criminal history or the likelihood that the defendant 
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will commit other crimes[.]”  USSG §4A1.3(a)(1).  The guidelines provide a non-

exhaustive list of factors a court may consider in determining whether an upward 

departure is appropriate under this section, including “[p]rior sentence(s) not used 

in computing the criminal history category,” (USSG §4A1.3(a)(2)(A)), and “[p]rior 

similar adult criminal conduct not resulting in a criminal conviction,” (USSG 

§4A1.3(a)(2)(E)). 

The sentencing court, however, is not limited to those factors. United States 

v. Outlaw, 720 F.3d 990, 992 (8th Cir. 2013).  Rather, the court may consider a 

“wide variety of other information,” including “‘the substantial likelihood a 

defendant will commit future crimes or his capacity for future violence,’” Id. 

(quoting United States v. Porter, 439 F.3d 845, 849 (8th Cir. 2006)), and the other 

factors set out at 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a).  Indeed, in determining whether a departure 

from the guidelines is warranted, “the court may consider without limitation, any 

information concerning the background, character and conduct of the defendant, 

unless otherwise prohibited by law.”  USSG §1B1.4; see 18 U.S.C. § 3661.  

In determining the extent of a departure under §4A1.3, the court shall use, 

“as a reference, the criminal history category applicable to defendants whose 

criminal history or likelihood to recidivate most closely resembles that of the 

defendant’s.”  §4A1.3(a)(4)(A).  However, the court is not required to compare the 

defendant “explicitly to other offenders in [the same criminal history] category 

before departing upward.”  United States v. Levi, 229 F.3d 677, 679 (8th Cir. 2000).  

Nor is the district court required to engage in a “ritualistic exercise in which [it] 
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mechanically discusses each criminal history category it rejects en route to the 

category it selects.”  Id. (citations omitted).  But the sentencing court must 

adequately explain why it determines that the intermediary categories fail to meet 

the purposes of § 4A1.3.  United States v. Mees, 640 F.3d 849, 854 (8th Cir. 2011) 

(citations omitted). 

The guidelines also permit a court to depart upward if it finds “there exists an 

aggravating or mitigating circumstance . . . of a kind or to a degree not adequately 

taken into consideration by the Sentencing Commission . . .”  USSG §5K2.0. 

1. Criminal History Category Departure 
Here, defendant has prior unscored adult convictions for arson, in 1989 (PSR 

¶ 25) and second degree burglary, in 1992 (PSR ¶ 26).   Defendant has also 

repeatedly been convicted of driving while license is suspended or revoked, in 1992, 

2000, and 2011 (PSR ¶¶ 27, 29, 31).  In addition, defendant received criminal 

history points for possession of methamphetamine in 1996 (PSR ¶ 28) and 

manufacture of methamphetamine in 2001 (PSR ¶ 30).  Defendant violated 

probation five times on his 1996 drug conviction, between 1997 and 2001.  (PSR 

¶ 28).  Though defendant was sentenced to terms of incarceration on each such 

violation, there were no separate criminal history points allocated for any of these 

violations.  Cf. United States v. Hacker, 450 F.3d 808, 812 (8th Cir.2006) (concluding 

the defendant's past criminal conduct and “repeated violations of probation and 

supervised release” supported an upward departure). 

Defendant also sought to obstruct justice in the underlying investigation and 

prosecution.  As noted by the government at the prior sentencing proceeding, 
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although defendant received an enhancement for attempting to obstruct justice, the 

two-level increase would have been warranted for any single act of obstruction.  

However, the adjustment was warranted for more than a single reason, as outlined 

below: 

Defendant sought to influence the testimony of Steve, who 
initially lied to the FBI after talking to defendant.  Thus, 
defendant aided and abetted the commission of a felony by 
Steve.  This is the type of conduct covered by USSG §3C1.1 
(See application note 4(A) (unlawfully influencing a witness)). 
 
Defendant told Steve to destroy the texts which were 
evidence of defendant’s obstructive actions.  This is the type 
of conduct covered by USSG §3C1.1 (See application note 
4(D) (directing or procuring another person to destroy or 
conceal evidence or attempting to do so).  

 
Defendant provided materially false information to the 
United States that resulted in the expenditure of significant 
resources to disprove, including the taking of grand jury 
testimony; bringing witnesses in from out of state; and travel 
out of state by agents to conduct interviews.  This is the type 
of conduct covered by USSG §3C1.1 (See application note 
4(G)(providing false statements to a law enforcement officer 
that significantly impedes the investigation).  
 
Defendant provided false information to the Probation Office 
in connection with the preparation of the PSIR.  (See 
application note 4(H)(providing false information to a 
probation officer in respect to a presentence investigation for 
the court). 
 
Finally, defendant’s actions were in violation of the 
obstruction of justice statutes, as contemplated by 
application note 4(I) to USSG §3C1.1 (e.g. 18 U.S.C. § 1503 
(corruptly or by any communication obstructs, impedes, or 
endeavors to obstruct or impede the due administration of 
justice); 18 U.S.C.  § 1512(b) (corruptly persuade another 
person are attempt to do so to cause that person to withhold 
testimony or a record or object from an official proceeding, or 
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to not communicate to a law enforcement officer or judge 
information concerning a violation of law).  
                                      

Moreover, as shown by defendant’s Facebook postings, defendant was a 

former member of at least one outlaw motorcycle gang, the Gypsy Jokers.  (Exhibit 

4 at 18).  Defendant appears to subscribe to the belief that “snitches” should be 

killed or dealt with violently.  (Exhibit 3 at 10).  Defendant sought to kill two people 

by setting fire to their home when they were in it, and later expressed regret that 

he was not successful.  (Exhibit 10 at 1).  Defendant also sought to “hunt” down 

someone he believed had sexually assaulted his niece.  (Exhibit 3 at 7-8).  More 

recently, in late 2014, defendant reaffirmed his long-standing pledge to a “brother” 

to kill the husband of woman for whom the “brother” apparently had affection.  

(Exhibit 5).  Defendant indicated he remained willing and obligated to follow 

through on the pledge when called to do so.  (Exhibit 5 at 4-6).  At the same time, 

defendant recounted how he and another person had previously wanted to kill the 

spouse of his “brother” and “burry (sic) her deep,” but his “brother” would not allow 

it.  (Exhibit 5 at 11).  Defendant’s history and propensity for violence even exceeds 

that of the “typical” “armed career criminal” given that most such criminals have 

never sought or pledged to kill someone.  Indeed, defendant has not only bragged 

about attempting to kill others, by setting fire to an occupied home, but has also 

repeatedly indicated his willingness to kill or engage in violent conduct.  Defendant 

is at high risk to recidivate. 

 Despite defendant’s history of criminal activity, he received criminal history 

points for only two offenses.  (PSR ¶¶ 28, 30).  Defendant is presently scored at the 
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high end of criminal history Category III, with 6 criminal history points.  With one 

more criminal history point, defendant would be a criminal history Category IV and 

subject to an advisory guidelines sentence of 92-115 months’ imprisonment.  Were 

defendant placed at the low end of criminal history Category V, he would be subject 

to an advisory sentencing range of 110-137 months imprisonment.  Simply put, 

defendant’s criminal history and likelihood to recidivate more closely resemble that 

of a criminal history Category V offender than that of a Category III offender.  See 

§4A1.3(a)(4)(A).  An upward departure is warranted for understatement of criminal 

history. 

2. Offense Level Departure  
Similarly, the government requests the Court consider that defendant’s base 

offense level would be a 26 if either of the offenses outlined at PSR ¶¶ 25 or 26 

received criminal history points under the sentencing guidelines.  Both offenses are 

the types of offense that would traditionally have been considered crimes of violence 

under the guidelines.  See USSG §4B1.2 (defining term “crime of violence” to include 

arson and burglary of a dwelling).   However, absent those convictions being scored, 

with only one predicate offense (manufacture of a controlled substance – PSR ¶ 30) 

under USSG §2K2.1(a)(3), a base offense level of 22 results.  (PSR ¶ 13).   Adding in 

the adjustments for number of guns and obstruction of justice the adjusted offense 

level is 26, whereas, if either the arson or burglary conviction was scored as a crime 

of violence under §2K2.1, the resulting adjusted offense level would be 30.  The 

difference in the advisory guidelines range for an adjusted offense level of 26, 
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criminal history Category III (78-97 months), and an adjusted offense level of 30, 

criminal history Category III (121-151), is significant.   

 Regardless of whether defendant’s arson or burglary convictions score as 

“crimes of violence” under USSG §2K2.1, the convictions still represent serious and 

dangerous criminal conduct.  Thus, even though a base offense level 26 may not be 

warranted due to the scoring rules of the guidelines, it does seem that a departure 

to a base offense level between 22 and 26 would be warranted and in keeping with 

the sentencing guidelines’ approach to incrementally increase offense levels based 

upon increased severity of criminal conduct.   

Even if the Court were to only partially account for the prior arson or 

burglary offense(s) in determining the appropriate base offense level departure, at a 

minimum, a 1-2 level increase to the base offense level would be justified.  A 

marginal 1-level increase in the base offense level, due to the combination of the 

arson and/or burglary conviction(s), coupled with the methamphetamine 

manufacturing predicate that was scored (PSR ¶ 30), would result in an adjusted 

offense level of 27 (23 base, +2 number of guns, +2 obstruction).  At a criminal 

history Category III, the advisory guidelines range for an adjusted offense level 27 

would be 87-108 months’ imprisonment.  If the Court were to split the difference 

between a base offense level 22 and 26, the resulting advisory guidelines range 

would be 97-121, at an adjusted offense level of 28.  Each of these calculations 

assumes no increase in the criminal history Category as suggested above. 
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Were the Court to assess 1 additional criminal history point and increase the 

base offense level by 1 level, based upon the reasoning outlined above, defendant 

would be scored with 7 criminal history points (criminal history Category IV) and 

the adjusted offense level would be 27, resulting in an advisory guidelines range of 

100-125 months’ imprisonment.   

Finally, an upward departure is necessary to account, at least in part, for 

defendant’s prior felonious conduct, numerous probation violations, and multiple 

driving offenses.  Absent a departure, nothing in the guidelines, as currently scored 

in the PSR, would account for any of these crimes or associated conduct, or for any 

of the criminal conduct discussed by defendant in his Facebook postings.  Although 

none of these convictions or criminal conduct received criminal history points, they 

do reflect defendant’s incorrigibility and disrespect for the law.  USSG §5K2.0 is 

intended to provide authority for the Court to depart upward in a case such as this, 

where the sentencing guidelines fail to account for such aggravating conduct.  

3. Appropriate Term of Imprisonment 

The Court recognized defendant’s serious and concerning criminal history at 

the original sentencing hearing and found it justified a sentence above the 180 

month minimum, based upon a variety of factors, including:1 

• Defendant’ s significant history of alcohol and 
methamphetamine use; 

• Defendant’s “criminal thinking” as shown by the 
Facebook chats; 

                                            
1 A transcript of the prior sentencing hearing was not prepared.  These factors are 
taken from counsel’s notes of the prior hearing.  
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• Defendant’s self-characterization on Facebook as 
being a “professional convict” – something the 
Court took as being serious; 

• One Facebook chat in which defendant was looking 
for an illegal short barreled Mossberg shotgun with 
a pistol grip; 

• Defendant’s bragging statements about burning 
down a house around an ex-wife and her boyfriend; 

• Defendant’s obstructive attempts to keep a witness 
from providing information to law enforcement; and  

• Other factors in 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a). 
 
Indeed, near the conclusion of the sentencing hearing, the Court noted it would 

impose a 188-month sentence, regardless of the sentencing guidelines scoring. 

 Although the Court is now constrained by the 120-month statutory maximum 

sentence, all the reasons that caused the Court to previously conclude a sentence of 

188 months’ was warranted still apply.  In order to promote respect for the law, 

provide just punishment for the offense, provide adequate deterrence to others, and 

to protect the public from future crimes of the defendant, who is at high risk to 

recidivate, a 120-month sentence is appropriate here.  See 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a).  

 Wherefore, government respectfully requests the Court depart upward for 

one or more of the reasons outlined above to impose a sentence to imprisonment of 

120 months. 

b.  Upward Variance 

 If the Court elects not to depart upward, the government alternatively 

requests that the Court vary upward from defendant’s advisory guidelines range.  

In fashioning an appropriate sentence, the Court must determine the sentence that 

is sufficient, but not greater than necessary, to achieve the goals of sentencing, and 
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must consider the factors set forth at 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a).  Those factors include the 

“nature and circumstances of the offense,” as well the need for a sentence that 

“reflects the seriousness of the offense,” “promote[s] respect for the law,” “provide[s] 

just punishment for the offense,” in addition the factors discussed in the prior 

section.   

 The government respectfully suggests an upward variance to 120 months’ 

imprisonment is warranted based upon all of the reasons outlined above. 

III. CONCLUSION 

Based on the foregoing, the government respectfully requests that the Court 

grant an upward departure and/or variance at the time of sentencing, in order to 

impose a sentence sufficient, but not greater than necessary, to achieve the 

purposes of sentencing as set out in § 3553(a). 

 
Respectfully submitted, 

 
SEAN R. BERRY  
Acting United States Attorney 

 
 By,   Richard L. Murphy 

 
 RICHARD L. MURPHY 
 Assistant United States Attorney 
 111 7th Avenue SE, Box 1 
 Cedar Rapids, IA  52401 
 319-363-6333/319-363-1990 (Fax) 
       Rich.Murphy@usdoj.gov  

       CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 
I hereby certify that on April 21, 2017, I 
electronically filed the foregoing with the 
Clerk of Court using the ECF system which 
will send notification of such filing to the 
parties or attorneys of record. 
  
UNITED STATES ATTORNEY 
 
BY: /s/ ___rlm___________ 
 
cc:  Michael Lindeman  
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